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ALASKA WORKERS' COMPENSATION BOARD

P.O. Box 115512
Juneau, Alaska 99811-5512

	MARILYN A. COPPE, 

                                  Employee, 

                                 Applicant

                                   v. 

MICHAEL A BLEICHER, M.D. & 

LAURIE BLEICHER, M.D.,

                                   Employers,

                                     and 

LIBERTY NORTHWEST 

INSURANCE COMPANY,

                                     Insurer,

                                     Defendants.
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	FINAL DECISION AND ORDER

AWCB Case No.  200324759
AWCB Decision No. 11-0049
Filed with AWCB Anchorage, Alaska

on April 21, 2011


Marilyn A. Coppe’s (Employee) workers’ compensation claim was heard on December 1 and 2, 2010, in Anchorage, Alaska.  Employee represented herself, assisted by non-attorney representative Laura Waldron.  Randall Weddle, Holmes Weddle & Barcott, represented Michael A. Bleicher, M.D., and Laurie Bleicher, M.D. (Employer).  Witnesses included Employee, Bernard Coppe (husband), Ms. Waldron, Dr. Michael Bleicher, Laurie Tanner (deposition), Shelby Newbough (deposition), Donna Washington (deposition), Janet Whitsett (deposition), James J. Pizzadili, D.C., Fred Griffith (Superior Mechanical Services), Douglas Boyce, D.D.S. (deposition), Emil J. Bardana, M.D. (deposition), and Brent Burton, M.D.  The record closed on January 20, 2011. 


ISSUES

Employee contends she has sustained permanent injury in the course and scope of her employment with Employer due to the toxicity of the work place and from stress created by unsafe and unsanitary working conditions.   She contends she is permanently and totally disabled as a result of the unsafe work environment with Employer.   Employee further contends she did not timely file a report of injury because no one advised her she could do so and there was no posting at work regarding her right to workers’ compensation benefits.  She also contends she received no training in the handling of hazardous waste materials to which she asserts she was exposed.  She further contends the building was not properly protected from exterior fumes, dust, leaking water, and mold.  She also contends she sustained injury from working long hours without proper accommodation or compensation.  Employee contends Employer violated several state and federal laws governing wage and hour, OSHA
, written personnel policies/manuals, whistleblower action, etc. all of which contributed to her current condition.  She further contends she was terminated for her complaint to Alaska OSHA.
   She contends her problems began in 1995 and the cumulative effect of the bad environment and the poor working conditions led to her current condition “sick building syndrome.”

Employer contends first Employee’s claim is barred by the statute of limitations in AS 23.30.100 because she is alleging her work injury started in 1995 and continued through 2003 but she did not file a report of injury until August 26, 2008.  Employer further contends there is no evidence in the record any of Employee’s complaints and symptoms arose out of and in the course and scope of her employment with Employer.  Employer relies on the reports of the Second Independent Medical Evaluation (SIME) by Thomas G. Martin, M.D., toxicologist, and the Employer’s Medical Evaluations (EME) by Brent Burton, M.D., toxicologist, Emil J. Bardana, M.D., allergy/immunology, Eric Goranson, M.D., Psychiatrist, and Bryan Laycoe, M.D., orthopedist.  Employer further contends many of Employee’s complaints are outside the workers’ compensation area and/or were resolved against Employee in litigation in superior court.
  Employer also contends Employee is not permanently and totally disabled as a result of her work with Employer, pointing to Employee’s sworn testimony in her litigation in superior court about her ability to work as a secretary and her efforts starting in 2003 and continuing through March 2006 to find employment.

1) Does the board have jurisdiction to decide the non-workers’ compensation aspects of Employee’s claim?

2) Did Employee sustain a work injury in the course and scope of her employment with Employer?

3) Is Employee entitled to permanent total disability benefits and medical benefits as a result of her employment with Employer?


FINDINGS OF FACT

A review of the entire record establishes the following facts by a preponderance of the evidence:

1) On August 26, 2008, Employee filled out a Report of Injury or Occupational Illness stating she injured her shoulders, arms, wrists, hands, low back and knees from repetitive motion while working for Employer, and asserting an injury date of October 3, 2003 (Report of Injury or Occupational Illness, filed September 16, 2005).

2) On January 16, 1995, Employee was seen at Independence Park Medical Services for low back pain as a result of lots of lifting at work.  The x-ray on September 16, 1995, showed a mild scoliotic curve with right convexity.  L5-S1 facet degenerative changes were also noted (SIME records 06-08).

3) On June 6, 2000, Employee saw Paula Korn, R.N.P, for shoulder and arm pain upon waking.  On June 7, 2000, Ms. Korn stated Employee attributed the pain to lifting heavy boxes of ledgers at work.  She was using ibuprofen and was advised to follow-up with Ms. Korn in two to four days.  Ms. Korn described it as a repetitive injury (SIME records 09-012).

4) On September 13, 2001, Employee saw Bayne French, M.D., for low back strain.  Dr. French noted a long history of chronic low back pain which Employee stated she aggravated at work the previous week.  She was prescribed Motrin and was to follow-up in three to four weeks if no improvement. Dr. French recommended physical therapy for Employee’s leg length inequality and discussed possible use of a heel lift (SIME record 013).

5) On September 14, 2001, Employee was seen at Providence Hospital physical therapy for an evaluation.  Her chronic back pain while lifting heavy objects and bilateral knee pain were noted.  She was instructed in home exercises along with body mechanics and lifting techniques (SIME records 014-021).

6) On November 11, 2002, Employee saw John M. Troxel, M.D., at Northern Lights Surgical Associates for a ganglion cyst (SIME records 022-026).

7) On May 9, 2003, Employee saw Sandra L. Clapper, A.N.P., for a gynecological examination.  Her assessment included vertigo due to possible menstrual blood loss and possible allergic reaction to dusts, pollens, and molds in the air of the exhaust system based on Employee’s statements, among other things.  Employee was to follow-up in one to two months (SIME records 027-037).

8) On May 20, 2003, Employee saw Ms. Clapper in follow-up at which time Employee stated she was still having problems with her work environment.  Ms. Clapper wrote a letter to allow Employee time off work and she expressed concern Employee’s complaints of vertigo, nausea, chest pain, headache and disorientation were associated with the building since symptoms seemed to disappear with fresh air and time out of the building (SIME records 038-039) 

9) On May 30, 2003, Employee sent to various other workers at her place of employment a letter: “I am writing this letter regarding a mystery illness believed to have started within this building in April 2003 and continues to date.  If you have experienced any of the following symptoms I have listed below please check, sign and date.”  The symptoms listed included dizziness, chest pain, headaches, nausea, fatigue, blurred vision and/or disorientation.  She also asked “If you have experienced any or all of the above symptoms and have noticed a relief from these symptoms after you have been outside of this building after some hours or over the weekend, please acknowledged (sic)” (October 29, 2007, Donna Guillory-Washington deposition,  Ex. 2).

10) Ms. Guillory-Washington, Shelby Newbrough, and Laurie Tanner filled out Employee’s questionnaire for her (Employee, Guillory-Washington, Newbrough, and Tanner depositions).

11) On June 16, 2003, Nortech Environmental & Engineering Consultants issued a report on the Preliminary Indoor Air Quality Investigation at Alaska Surgery Center in May/June 2003. The visual inspection did not identify any potential sources of indoor air contaminants likely to cause an IAQ
 impact.  The HVAC
 system was regularly serviced and did not show any evidence of mold or moisture impacts or any excessive dust build-up.   The levels of carbon dioxide and carbon monoxide were within acceptable levels.  The report did note existence of decaying material outside the building which could impact the IAQ.  The report also recommended the minimum setting for the HVAC system be adjusted throughout the year to ensure minimum levels of outdoor air flow to all parts of the building (June 16, 2003, Nortech report, ex. 19 to Employer’s hearing brief).    

12) On July 30, 2003, Employee saw David Hemry, M.D., for  allergic disease.  Employee complaints for the past three months had included  lightheadedness, pressure chest, headaches, fatigue, diminished concentration, and blurred vision all of which she attributed to her work environment.  Dr. Hemry found no allergic disease and opined a differential diagnosis could include depression or job related stress “although this is not apparent in history as provided.”  Other causes of the symptoms “would not be expected to manifest in an environmentally related pattern” (July 30, 2003, Hemry medical report). 

13) On October 3, 2003, Employee saw Robin Galloway, M.D., who diagnosed rhinitis and bronchospasm which Dr. Galloway opined was related to environmental exposure at work based on Employee’s representations.  She prescribed medication for Employee (October 3, 2003, Galloway medical report).

14) On October 3, 2003, John Stallone, Acting Chief, State of Alaska, Occupational Safety & Health Labor Standards & Safety Division, wrote Employee stating it had decided not to conduct an inspection of the work site because “standards do not address your complaint item at this time” (October 3, 2003, Stallone letter).

15) On November 13, 2003, Employee again saw Dr. Galloway and stated since she stopped working in October her symptoms had completely resolved.  Dr. Galloway noted depression and offered Employee some treatment options.  Dr. Galloway also noted Employee’s blood work in May 2003 was normal and suggested she be retested.  Employee decided to defer this testing because she had no health insurance.  Employee also discussed hand pain which she related to repetitive use during her former employment.  Dr. Galloway recommended routine ibuprofen (November 13, 2003, Galloway medical report).

16) On December 18, 2003, Employee again saw Dr. Galloway with complaints of worsening depression since losing her job several months earlier.  Dr. Galloway noted Employee had problems with depression in the past although not treated with medication and noted a family history of mood disorders.  Dr. Galloway prescribed Lexapro and referred Employee to psychotherapy at the clinic (December 18, 2003, Galloway medical report).

17) On February 16, 2004, Employee returned to Dr. Galloway for follow-up.  Employee reported significant improvement with the Lexapro so she discontinued its use.  Dr. Galloway advised Employee to resume the Lexapro and to return in one month (February 16, 2004, Galloway medical report).

18) Ernest Meinhardt, M.D., ordered laboratory tests which were performed on August 29, 2005, and which were in range for alkaline phosphatase, calcium, phosphate, uric acid, anti-streptolysin O, ANA screen EIA w/REFL titer IFA, and rheumatoid factor.  The test for reactive protein was out of range at 0.93 H (August 30, 2005, Laboratory test result).

19) On October 25, 2005, Employee saw Jill Gaskill, M.D., for depression and insomnia.  Employee reported being happy with the Lexapro and wanted referral to a counselor.  She reported Dr. Meinhardt had tested her for rheumatoid arthritis but the test was negative.  Dr. Gaskill diagnosed Employee as probably having fibromyalgia and continued her on Lexapro and gave her a trial of Lunesta (October 25, 2005, Gaskill medical report).

20) On November 22, 2005, Employee began seeing Alicia Ferguson, B.A., Intern, and Raymond Pastorino, Ph. D., Preceptor, for counseling.  Employee placed the onset of her depression and other problems on her work environment (SIME record 066).

21) On November 25, 2005, Employee saw Michael Maze, M.D., for psychological help.  Employee denied family history of psychological problems and asserted her own problems began in 2003.  Dr. Maze recommended she continue with Lexapro and prescribed Ambien for her insomnia (SIME record 067).

22) On January 18, 2006, Dr. Maze provided a hand-written note to Employer’s attorney stating Employee required a traveling companion for her trip to California due to her feelings of fear at being alone in crowds (SIME record 078).

23) On January 26, 2006, Employee saw Claribel L.K. Tan, M.D., at the request of Dr. Meinhardt.  Her impression was nonspecific polyarthralgias with non-restful sleep fitting a diagnosis of fibromyalgia.  Employee also had mild osteoarthritis of knees and right shoulder.  She recommended Employee use nonsteroidal medications such as Aleve with conditioning exercises.  There was no need for narcotic or opioid pain medications or long-acting sleeping medications for her fibromyalgia type symptoms (SIME record 081).

24) On April 15, 2006, Employee saw Dr. Laycoe, orthopedist, for an EME.  Dr. Laycoe noted Employee’s multiple complaints related to her back, neck, right arm, knees, ankles, wrists, and hands, along with recurrent depression.  He opined there was no medical cause for her complaints, work was not a substantial factor in her pain complaints, and he recommended she be treated for her depression and sleep disorder.  He opined her work as a secretary did not result in any objective or verifiable subjective findings of anything more than a pain complaint with no abnormal pathology or diagnosis (April 15, 2006, Laycoe EME report).

25) On June 2, 2006, Employee saw Matt Sullivan, M.D., for thermography.  There were “no thermal findings that relate to patient’s occupation exposure or to her cognitive problems.”  Her multiple arthralgias lacked associated thermal findings (SIME records 111-113).  

26) On June 13, 2006, Employee began treatment with James Pizzadili, D.C., who diagnosed subluxations of the spine (June 13, 2006, Pizzadili x-ray report). 

27) On July 17, 2006, Employee met with Dr. Pastorino and staff for the last time.  Employee reported she was feeling better and was no longer depressed.  She also reported she had finished physical therapy and her knees will minimally bothering her (SIME report 155).  

28) On July 20, 2006, Employee saw Alan Skolnick, M.D., with complaints of chest pain for several weeks.  The electrocardiogram on July 13, 2006, was normal.  His impression was musculoskeletal chest discomfort, exertional dyspnea, fibromyalgia and history of near syncope.  He recommended a stress echocardiogram (SIME record 157).

29) On November 5, 2006, Employee’s urine was tested at the request of Jason Harmon, N.D., and the report showed higher than expected lead.  The report also indicated an elevated nickel content which may or may not be of significance (SIME records 180-186).

30) On February 12, 2007, Employee saw Dr.  Goranson, for a psychiatric EME.  He opined Employee did not have the symptoms of depression but rather suffered from a somatization disorder (February 12, 2007, Goranson EME report).

31) On February 22, 2007, Dr. Ellenburg, in a letter, reported to Employee her test results showed high levels of copper and recommended she take Glutathione to help her liver detoxify her body and DMSA
 orally along with DMPS IV
 every two weeks (SIME record 238).  

32) On April 3, 2007, Employee saw Gunnar Heuser, M.D., a neurotoxicologist, in California.  Based on Employee’s statements, he opined she had symptoms of impaired memory and cognitive functions, chronic pain, shortness of breath, chronic fatigue, depression, and insomnia.   He diagnosed her with fibromyalgia and found evidence of toxic exposure, tentatively finding she suffered from sick building syndrome, in part because she reported other employees in the building  had symptoms similar to her symptoms (April 25, 2007, Heuser medical report).

33) On July 5, 2007, Dr. Pizzadili wrote Employee would need personal assistance to attend the insurance medical examination in Portland, Oregon due to the right foot fracture which occurred in May 2007.  She also needed to keep her foot elevated (June 5, 2007, Pizzadili letter).

34) On July 23, 2007, Dr. Burton examined Employee’s medical records, after Employee failed to appear for a scheduled EME.  Dr. Burton found no evidence of toxic exposure at work and opined Employee’s symptoms were psychologically based and not related to her work.  He diagnosed a somatoform disorder (September 23, 2007, Burton EME report).

35) Dr. Burton testified a physician or medical toxicologist is a doctor who evaluates and provides treatment for patients who have toxicologic exposure or disease, which is different from a toxicologist who works in a laboratory.  He opined some of the laboratory tests done on Employee were analyzed in laboratories which were not standardized properly and thus  the results could not be assured accurate, reliable or reproducible.   In reviewing the test results from Great Plains Laboratory for January 25, 2007, he noted one test purportedly showing toxic elements was actually a test showing elevated nutrient elements.  Another test for copper and copper carrying proteins was not reliable because there was no medical report indicating Employee had any problem related to copper exposure, copper intoxication, or any kind of copper transport-related disease.  He further opined Employee’s continued and progressive symptoms, years after she left the alleged toxic environment, were strong evidence her current condition was not work related (March 4, 2008, Burton deposition at 13, 16, 17, 34-35).

36) Dr. Burton also testified he reviewed the report of Dr. Martin, SIME physician, with which he was in complete accord.   He noted Dr. Martin also was unable to examine Employee but stated an in-person examination in a case like this was not necessary.  The medical records contained the same history he would have obtained from Employee, and the test results and environmental reports were the critical pieces of information.  The questions he addressed were (1) was there a toxic exposure; (2) what is Employee’s diagnosis; and (3) is there a relationship between any exposure and the diagnosis.  Here the answers to questions (1) and (3) were no.   He did not need to examine Employee for this analysis.  Employee’s diagnosis is fibromyalgia which is not caused by toxic exposure, even had Employee been so exposed which she was not.  He further noted the testing relied on by Dr. Heuser was not helpful because the standard used is not explicit.  Dr. Burton stated he would only rely on testing by a laboratory with published standards.  Even so, the testing did not show levels which would cause concern for exposure.  Mold is a problem when a patient has a specific medical problem -- allergy, compromised immune system resulting in an infection, or a specific disease related to a specific mold.  Employee has no symptoms reflecting mold poison.  Moreover, if the building were making Employee sick, when she stopped working those symptoms would improve.    The Nortech report revealed no greater concentration of air contaminants than in the outside air.   While Dr. Galloway diagnosed Employee in 2003 with allergic rhinitis or broncospasm which she related to Employee’s work, the doctor did not have actual evidence to support that diagnosis.   He noted Dr. Hemry subsequently found, in 2003, Employee did not have an allergy or broncospasm.   In Dr. Burton’s opinion Employee does not have any diagnosis which could be related to any exposure at work (Hearing).

37) Dr. Burton is Clinical Associate Professor at Oregon Health and Science University, and is board certified in Occupational Medicine, Medical Toxicology, and Emergency Medicine. He has written extensively on toxic workplace exposures (Burton Curriculum Vitae).

38) Dr. Burton is a credible witness based on his training, professional work, board certifications, and his review and analysis of Employee’s medical records and deposition (experience, judgment, observations).
39)  On August 6, 2007, Dr. Bardana, allergy and immunologist specialist, reviewed Employee’s medical records, after Employee failed to appear for a scheduled EME.  He opined all of Employee’s symptoms were subjective without any underlying biologic markers or pathology.    He noted her symptoms initially cleared after October 3, 2003, only to reappear after a few years with no rationale.  He found no evidence of allergy or toxic reactions to Employee’s work and felt she could return to work (August 6, 2007, Bardana EME report).

40) Dr. Bardana testified the description “sick building syndrome” is defined “as a building in which one or more workers complains of health effects, wherein an investigation takes place … and nothing is found as a potential cause.”  There is no diagnostic test for this syndrome, but in making a diagnosis one relies on the patient’s complaints temporally – the complaints arise when in the building and clear up when away from the building.  Dr. Bardana noted in Employee’s case, when she stopped work in October 2003, her symptoms cleared up.  Some 18 months later her symptoms returned but now there was no temporality.  There is no evidence anything in the work site building caused her symptoms to occur.  He further noted Employee’s blood tests which were analyzed by well-recognized laboratories showed no elevated blood levels such as for heavy metals.  He discounted the results from the Great Plains Laboratory because the reporting was not done in the standard measurements.   Lead levels are not usually measured through urine samples but in Employee’s case, even when measured through the urine sample, her levels were within normal limits.  He agreed Employee had been diagnosed with fibromyalgia which is idiopathic, meaning of unknown cause.   He opined it was highly unlikely her complaints in 2005 leading to the fibromyalgia diagnosis, from a medical standpoint, could be attributed to her work in 2003.  Examining Employee in person would not have provided any essential information not already obtained from the medical records since the question was toxic exposure and at the time of the review Employee had been gone almost four years from the work site.   Dr. Bardana also noted Employee’s long history of back pain and depression (March 4, 2008, Bardana deposition at 16-18, 19, 20-23, 43-44).

41) Dr. Bardana is a credible witness based on his training, professional work, board certifications, his review and analysis of Employee’s medical records, and his deposition testimony (experience, judgment, observations).
42) On August 27, 2007, Shelby Newbrough testified she filled out Employee’s check list indicating she had experienced dizziness, chest pain, headaches, nausea, fatigue, blurred vision, and disorientation but she did not attribute any of these symptoms to the building where she worked at the same time as Employee.  She attributed each symptom checked to personal problems outside work (August 27, 2007, Newbrough deposition at 8-19).

43) On August 27, 2007, Douglas Boyce, D.D.S., stated in 2003 he was the treasurer of the condo association for the building at 4001 Laurel, Anchorage, Alaska, where Employer’s office is located.  He reported Employee brought up the air quality of the building and he arranged for testing to be performed.  While the air quality was fine, the company recommended shrubs near the building be cut back in case someone was allergic and he had the groundskeeper do that.  He never uses ether in his practice and seldom uses nitrous oxide.  When nitrous oxide is used only the patient can smell it. He denied ever stating the building made him sick and said Employee never told him she suspected problems with the ventilation system.  None of his employees ever complained the building caused them to feel ill (August 27, 2007, Boyce deposition at 8-17). 

44) On September 20, 2007, Dr. Pizzadili wrote he had been treating Employee for toxic exposure and testing showed her blood had high levels of copper and free copper which he attributed to the work site.  Multiple diagnostic testing at Neurmed and Neurotox Associates indicated she had sick building syndrome and toxic encephalopathy (September 20, 2007, Pizzadili letter).

45) On September 23, 2007, Dr. Burton examined additional medical records and other reports including an on-site job analysis and indoor air quality investigation performed by Nortech on June 16, 2003 and issued an additional report.   He opined the records and reports showed no potential toxic or allergenic exposures and no significant defects in the heating ventilation and air-conditioning system.   Additional testing also failed to reveal any evidence of exposure to potentially toxic substances.  He stated “sick building syndrome” is not an accepted medical diagnosis in part because the symptoms are non-specific and do not correspond to objective findings or diagnostic testing.  He opined Employee suffered from somatoform disorder, a psychological condition manifested by an expression of symptoms that do not correspond with objective findings and arise from an erroneous belief system (September 23, 2007, Burton EME report).

46) Dr. Burton is a credible witness based on his training, professional work, board certifications, and his review and analysis of Employee’s medical records and deposition (experience, judgment, observations).
47) On October 18, 2007, Dr. Pizzadili reviewed the EME report of Dr. Bardana to correct what he perceived to be misinterpretations and “biased opinions” in a lengthy letter.  He attributed the fact Employee missed her appointment with Dr. Bardana to her cognitive impairments and her receipt of travel documents “less than 36 hours before her flight reservations.”   He based many of his disagreements with Dr. Bardana solely on Employee’s statements regarding the building’s condition and her references to other employees having similar health concerns (October 18, 2007, Pizzadili letter).
48) On October 29, 2007, Ms. Guillory-Washington addressed the questionnaire she answered for Employee and stated, while she checked dizziness, headaches, nausea, fatigue and blurred vision, she did not attribute any of these symptoms to the building and had not made an acknowledgement so stating.  She attributed all of the symptoms checked to events in her life other than her work (October 29, 2007, Washington deposition at 44-45).

49) On December 5, 2007, Anthony Barnard stated in 2003 he was the senior environmental scientist for Nortech with responsibility for performing environmental evaluations.  At the request of Dr. Boyce he performed an evaluation of 4001 Laurel and submitted a report.   He did a visual inspection and an indoor air quality monitoring for carbon monoxide, carbon dioxide, temperature, and humidity.  He recommended outdoor air intake louvers be adjusted to increase amount of outdoor air.  He also recommended some organic debris near the building be cleared to ensure no allergens were drawn into the building.  He also verbally recommended against cleaning the air ducts, because doing so is likely to produce more dust in the air.  He monitored the building over a seven-day period.  Nine interview forms were returned from employees in the building.  One perceived diesel fumes entering the air ducts and one thought inadequate outdoor air was coming in.   The other employees indicated no problems or concerns with the air quality.  He found no evidence of mold buildup (December 5, 2007, Barnard deposition at 7, 9-11, 19-20, 29-31, 40-41, 50).

50) On March 4, 2008, Steven Standley, Chief of Enforcement, Alaska OSHA, wrote Employee stating he concluded an on-site inspection of the worksite was not warranted at that time. His opinion was based on the length of time since she last worked in the building (October 3, 2003), and the fact she did not request another on-site inspection within ten months after his March 19, 2007, letter to Employee (March 4, 2008 Standley letter).  

51) On March 20, 2008, Jane Whitsett discussed the testing performed by Shaw Group also known as Shaw Alaska.  She is an environmental consultant and performed environmental testing at Employer’s building.  The lead level in the water was 0.665 micrograms per liter which is “very, very low, low concentration” and is a trace concentration.  It is significantly below the limits for drinking water and is safe for human consumption.  Arsenic, mercury and nickel were not detected.  Copper was detected in a trace amount which is considered safe for consumption (March 20, 2008, Whitsett deposition at 5, 8-9, 10-13). 

52) On May 14, 2008, an Interlocutory Decision & Order was issued ordering Employee to attend a SIME with Dr. Martin, toxicologist, in Seattle, Washington (AWCB Decision No. 08-0090, May 14, 2008).

53)  On June 11, 2008, an Interlocutory Decision & Order on Reconsideration was issued which ordered a records review by Dr. Martin since Employee asserted her debilitated condition did not permit her to travel to Seattle (AWCB Decision No.08-0105, June 11, 2008).

54)  On February 9, 2009, Dr. Heuser reviewed Employee’s medical records, evaluated her, and concluded she suffered from Sick Building Syndrome.  He opined Employee’s work site had moisture and mold which had become toxic to her and he understood other employees had similarly gotten sick.   He diagnosed Employee with toxic encephalopathy, fibromyalgia, depression, orthopedic problems, and sleep disorder as a result of sick building syndrome.  

55) On April 30, 2010, Dr. Martin reviewed Employee’s medical records and depositions.  He concluded Employee did not suffer any injury or impairment from any workplace chemical or biological toxin exposure and did not find any toxins in the workplace which created a sick building.   He found no credible evidence of a toxic work environment that combined with, accelerated or aggravated any pre-existing condition.  None of Employee’s current problems, according to Dr. Martin, are the result of her work with Employer. He ascribed her complaints to an underlying disorder such as somatization disorder, feigning disorder or malingering.  He further opined Employee is able to work as a secretary without any restrictions and he found no permanent partial impairment as a result of her work with Employer (April 30, 2010, Martin SIME report).

56) Dr. Martin is a credible witness based on his training, professional work, board certifications, and his review and analysis of Employee’s medical records and deposition (experience, judgment, observations).
57) Employee testified to a variety of conditions at Employer’s site which Employee feels contributed or caused her current symptoms.  Employee spoke of heavy labor from lifting heavy files, need to use outdated or old fashioned equipment, lack of rest breaks to recover from repetitive work, poor housekeeping, standing for long periods using the photocopier, use of carbonless paper (toxic), lack of training in how to sterilize instruments, occasional flooding in the restroom, need to use the restroom as a kitchen, need to handle vials containing bodily fluids, and concern a dentist’s anesthesia lines might be leaking.  All of these caused stress to Employee and led to her expressing her concerns to her Employer in the spring of 2003.  She was aware her Employer requested an environmental analysis by the building association.  Employee stated her symptoms began in 1995 when she strained her back and Dr. Meinhardt took x-rays and diagnosed her with degenerative disc disease.  Sometime in the late 1990’s she again developed low back pain and shoulder pain from lifting heavy boxes.  She also stated she worked significant overtime for which she was not paid and which caused a heavy toll on her body.  In 2003, Employee noticed she felt better on the weekends when she was away from work and noticed dizziness and headaches while at work.  She filed a request with Alaska OSHA to conduct an evaluation of the building and contends she was terminated from her job in retaliation for this request.   She saw Dr. Hemry in 2003 for testing for allergies and she circulated a questionnaire among other employees in the building to see if other were suffering the same symptoms she was suffering.   She was aware Donna Guillory-Washington had rashes which Employee attributed to the building and she thought her Employer got sick one time from the air conditioning system.  Employee averred she did not file a workers’ compensation report of injury in 2003 because her Employer did not tell her about workers’ compensation benefits, and no notice of benefits was posted in the office.   Employee also pointed to the new HVAC system and other renovations undertaken in 2010 as evidence of the building’s failure as a safe working environment.  Her job with Employer was secretary and her duties included sterilizing instruments, cleaning exam rooms and other duties.  Employee agreed after she left work for Employer she sought other employment, starting immediately.  She looked a few times over the years but asserted she could not get hired because her Employer would not provide her with a reference (Hearing).
58) Bernard Coppe, Employee’s husband, testified to aspects of the building which he thought failed to meet safety standards when he inspected the building in 2008.  In particular Mr. Coppe pointed to improperly fitted window sills which allowed condensation to seep in, presence of water leakage in the bathroom which could indicate mold, visible signs of condensation on the exterior of the building which could indicate mold, presence of moisture in the stairwells, disconnections seen in the duct system via camera insertion, lack of maintenance information leading to a belief  the HVAC system had not been maintained for at least 3 years, other code violations, and roof in poor shape.  He was not aware of any attempt to ascertain if the stains he noted were mold, and was unaware when the leakage under the sink occurred.  Mr. Coppe further noted the differences in Employee’s condition and attitude in the years March/April 2003 and now.  She used to be full of life and they frequently went dancing or entertained people, none of which she could now do.  She had worked hard, often leaving home at 8:30 A.M. and not returning until 9 P.M.  Following a severe storm in March 2003 when there was no electricity for three days, his wife came home from work with severe chest pain and suffering from exhaustion.   It was not until 2006 he learned what was wrong with his wife and it was then he heard the diagnosis of sick building syndrome.  He paid for his wife’s medical care whenever she needed treatment (they married in 2002)  (Hearing).
59) Michael Bleicher, M.D., and his wife Laurie Bleicher, M.D., were Employee’s employers.  Dr. Michael Bleicher testified notice of workers’ compensation insurance was posted on the wall above the photocopier, but he did not provide his employees with health insurance.  No secretary ever handled any bodily fluids and specimen bottles were closed with no possibility of leakage.  He also stated he instructed Employee once in the handling of a workers’ compensation claim when another employee tripped in the storage room, cutting her knee, and necessitating a trip to the Emergency Room (Hearing).
60) James J. Pizzadili, D.C., testified he began treating Employee in 2006, and took a history from Employee which included descriptions of back pain since 1995, testing for toxic exposure in 2002, and her inability to work since 2003.  He conferred with other doctors regarding testing for toxic exposure.  His recommendations for treatment include detox protocol including chelation therapy,
 brain based neurological therapy to improve brain function, glutasyn treatment for autoimmune aspects, and exercises with oxygen.  He did not order any testing but did review the test results.  He interpreted the results of testing by Great Plains Laboratory to show significant lead accumulations in Employee’s body, most likely from lead-based paint at the Employer’s work site.  Her blood also showed high levels of copper and low levels of glutasyn and magnesium.  He agreed he had no specific training in toxicology, psychology, or the urinary system.  He did not know if there are any protocols for use of chelation therapy or hyperbaric chambers because these are medical procedures.  However, the Merck Manual provides information for removal of toxic lead and he relied on this manual.  His brain treatment includes vibration, vision therapy, olfactory therapy and exercises with oxygen.  He consulted both the Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) and OSHA websites for information on toxic exposures.  While he is not trained to diagnose and treat fibromyalgia, he has treated with chiropractic methods patients who suffer from fibromyalgia.   He understood Employee had spoken to other employees at the work site who suffered from the same symptoms as Employee and this evidence supported his opinion she suffered from sick building syndrome (Hearing).
61) Dr. Pizzadili’s testimony is given less weight, especially in the areas of toxicology, because toxicology is outside his area of expertise as a chiropractor and he admitted he has no schooling or training in toxicology.  He relied for his understanding Employee had toxic exposure from work, in part, on what he learned from the websites for EPA and OSHA, and, in part, on Employee’s history and other statements to him.   Furthermore, Dr. Pizzadili’s opinions in his October 2007 letter are generalized statements based primarily on Employee’s input, and some of the information on which he relied was clearly erroneous, such as statements the building made other employees sick and the condition of the building. 
62) Fred Griffith, Superior Mechanical Services General Manager, spoke of the service maintenance at 4001 Laurel regarding the HVAC system.  The building received regular maintenance since 1994.  He admitted his employees were not diligent in filling out the service tags on the equipment but the billing records were more complete.  He supplied additional records after the hearing to document the service performed over the years on the HVAC system.  Employee declined an opportunity to cross-examine Mr. Griffith on the additional records (agency file).
PRINCIPLES OF LAW

AS 23.30.001. Intent of the legislature and construction of chapter. 

It is the intent of the legislature that

(1) this chapter be interpreted so as to ensure the quick, efficient, fair, and predictable delivery of indemnity and medical benefits to injured workers at a reasonable cost to the employers who are subject to the provisions of this chapter; 

(2) workers' compensation cases shall be decided on their merits except where otherwise provided by statute; 

(3) this chapter may not be construed by the courts in favor of a party; 

(4) hearings in workers' compensation cases shall be impartial and fair to all parties and that all parties shall be afforded due process and an opportunity to be heard and for their arguments and evidence to be fairly considered. 


In Alaska Public Interest Research Group v. State, 167 P.3 27, 36  (Alaska 2007), the Alaska Supreme Court reiterated the limited jurisdiction of  the Alaska Workers’ Compensation Board when it is operating in its quasi-judicial function.  The Court said:

One factor that courts rely on to determine that an agency exercises only quasi-judicial authority is the limited jurisdiction of the administrative agency.  One of the policy justifications for the existence of administrative adjudication is that as a result of their limited jurisdiction, administrative agencies are able to develop expertise in a narrow area. Some courts have decided that a grant of judicial power to an administrative agency is acceptable when the administrative body “resolve[s] factual issues underlying a purely statutory right.” Administrative agencies do not have jurisdiction to decide issues of constitutional law. Delegation to an administrative agency is upheld as long as the administrative tribunal stays within the bounds of its authority (citations omitted). 


The Court further stated,  in reference to the jurisdiction of the Alaska Workers’ Compensation Appeals Commission, that the Commission “like the Board, may be required to apply equitable or common law principles in a specific case, but both of these quasi-judicial agencies can only adjudicate in the context of a workers' compensation case. Neither the Appeals Commission nor the Board has jurisdiction to hear any action outside of a workers' compensation claim.” Id. at 36-37(citation omitted).

AS 23.30.095.  Medical treatments, services, and examinations. 

(a) The employer shall furnish medical, surgical, and other attendance or treatment, nurse and hospital service, medicine, crutches, and apparatus for the period which the nature of the injury or the process of recovery requires, not exceeding two years from and after the date of injury to Claimant. . . .  

. . .

(k)
In the event of a medical dispute regarding determinations of causation, medical stability, ability to enter a reemployment plan, degree of impairment, functional capacity, the amount and efficacy of the continuance of or necessity of treatment, or compensability between the employee's attending physician and the employer's independent medical evaluation, the board may require that a second independent medical evaluation be conducted by a physician or physicians selected by the board from a list established and maintained by the board. The cost of an examination and medical report shall be paid by the employer. The report of an independent medical examiner shall be furnished to the board and to the parties within 14 days after the examination is concluded. A person may not seek damages from an independent medical examiner caused by the rendering of an opinion or providing testimony under this subsection, except in the event of fraud or gross incompetence.

. . .

AS 23.30.100. Notice of injury or death
(a) Notice of an injury or death in respect to which compensation is payable under this chapter shall be given within 30 days after the date of such injury or death to the board and to the employer.

(b) The notice must be in writing, contain the name and address of the employee, a statement of the time, place, nature, and cause of the injury or death, and authority to release records of medical treatment for the injury or death, and be signed by the employee or by a person on behalf of the employee, or, in case of death, by a person claiming to be entitled to compensation for the death or by a person on behalf of that person.

(c) Notice shall be given to the board by delivering it or sending it by mail addressed to the board's office, and to the employer by delivering it to the employer or by sending it by mail addressed to the employer at the employer's last known place of business. If the employer is a partnership, the notice may be given to a partner, or if a corporation, the notice may be given to an agent or officer upon whom legal process may be served or who is in charge of the business in the place where the injury occurred.

(d) Failure to give notice does not bar a claim under this chapter

(1) if the employer, an agent of the employer in charge of the business in the place where the injury occurred, or the carrier had knowledge of the injury or death and the board determines that the employer or carrier has not been prejudiced by failure to give notice; 

(2) if the board excuses the failure on the ground that for some satisfactory reason notice could not be given; 

(3) unless objection to the failure is raised before the board at the first hearing of a claim for compensation in respect to the injury or death. 

In Cogger v. Anchor House, (936  P.2d 157, 160 (Alaska 1997), the Alaska Supreme Court held:

An employee must provide formal written notice to his or her employer within thirty days of an injury in order to be eligible for workers' compensation under AS 23.30.100. For reasons of fairness and based on the general excuse in AS 23.30.100 (d)(2), this court has read a “reasonableness” standard, analogous to the “discovery rule” for statutes of limitations,  into the statute.   Alaska State House. Auth.v. Sullivan, 518 P.2d 759, 761 (Alaska 1974).  Under this standard, the thirty-day period begins when “by reasonable care and diligence it is discoverable and apparent that a compensable injury has been sustained.”  Id. at 761 (quoting 3 Arthur Larson, Workmen's Compensation, Sec. 78.41, at 60 (1971))…. Under Sullivan, the thirty-day period begins to run when the worker could reasonably discover an injury's compensability. 518 P.2d at 761.  The exact date when an employee could reasonably discover compensability is often difficult to determine, and missing the short thirty-day limitation period bars a claim absolutely. For reasons of clarity and fairness, we hold that the thirty-day period can begin no earlier than when a compensable event first occurs. However, it is not necessary that a claimant fully diagnose his or her injury for the thirty-day period to begin. Id.

AS 23.30.120 Presumptions. 

(a) In a proceeding for the enforcement of a claim for compensation under this chapter it is presumed, in the absence of substantial evidence to the contrary, that 

(1) the claim comes within the provisions of this chapter;

(2) sufficient notice of the claim has been given. . . .

The Alaska Supreme Court held “the text of AS 23.30.120(a)(1) indicates that the presumption of compensability is applicable to any claim for compensation under the workers' compensation statute.”  Meek v. Unocal Corp., 914 P.2d 1276, 1279 (Alaska 1996) (emphasis in original).  Therefore, an injured worker is afforded a presumption all the benefits she seeks are compensable.  Id.  The Alaska Supreme Court also held the presumption applies to claims for medical benefits as these benefits come within the meaning of compensation in the Alaska Workers’ Compensation Act.   Moretz.v. O’Neill Investigations, 783 P.2d 764, 766 (Alaska 1989); Olson v. AIC/Martin J.V., 818 P.2d 669 (Alaska 1991). 

The application of the presumption involves a three-step analysis.  Louisiana Pacific Corp. v. Koons, 816 P.2d 1379, 1381 (Alaska 1991).   First, the employee must establish a “preliminary link” between the disability and her employment.  The evidence necessary to raise the presumption of compensability varies depending on the claim.  In claims based on highly technical medical considerations, medical evidence is often necessary to make that connection.  Burgess Construction Co. v. Smallwood, 623 P.2d 312, 316 (Alaska 1981).  In less complex cases, lay evidence may be sufficiently probative to establish causation.  Veco, Inc. v. Wolfer, 693 P.2d 865, 871 (Alaska 1985).  The employee need only adduce “some” “minimal” relevant evidence (Cheeks v. Wismer & Becker/G.S. Atkinson, J.V., 742 P.2d 239, 244 (Alaska 1987)) establishing a “preliminary link” between the disability and employment (Burgess Construction, 623 P.2d at 316) or between a work-related injury and the existence of disability (Wien Air Alaska v. Kramer, 807 P.2d 471, 473-74 (Alaska 1991)).
“Before the presumption attaches, some preliminary link must be established between the disability and the employment. . . .”  Burgess Construction, 623 P.2d at 316.  “The purpose of the preliminary link requirement is to ‘rule out cases in which [the] claimant can show neither that the injury occurred in the course of employment nor that it arose out of [it].’”  Cheeks, 742 P.2d at 244.  “In making the preliminary link determination, the Board may not concern itself with the witnesses’ credibility.”  Excursion Inlet Packing Co. v. Ugale, 92 P.3d 413,417 (Alaska 2004).

Once the preliminary link is established, it is the employer's burden to overcome the presumption by coming forward with substantial evidence the injury is not work related.  Miller v. ITT Arctic Services, 577 P.2d 1044, 1046 (Alaska 1991).  There are two possible ways for an employer to overcome the presumption: 


(1) produce substantial evidence that provides an alternative explanation which, if accepted, would exclude work-related factors as a substantial cause of the disability; or 



(2)  directly eliminates any reasonable possibility that the employment was a factor in the disability.  

Grainger v. Alaska Workers’ Comp. Bd., 805 P.2d 976, 977 (Alaska 1991).

“Substantial evidence” is the amount of relevant evidence a reasonable mind might accept as adequate to support a conclusion.   Miller, 577 P.2d at 1046.    “It has always been possible to rebut the presumption of compensability by presenting a qualified expert who testifies that, in his or her opinion, the claimant’s work was probably not a substantial cause of the disability.”   Norcon, Inc. v. Alaska Workers’ Comp. Bd., 880 P.2d 1051, 1054 (Alaska 1994), citing Big K. Grocery v. Gibson, 836 P.2d 941 (Alaska 1992).  If medical experts rule out work-related causes for the injury, then an alternative explanation is not required.   Norcon, 880 P.2d at 1054, citing Childs v. Copper Valley Elec. Ass’n, 860 P.2d 1184, 1189 (Alaska 1993).   The board must look at the employer’s evidence in isolation, without regard to any evidence presented by the employee.   Id. at 1055.   Therefore, the board defers questions of credibility and the weight to be given the employer's evidence until after it has decided whether the employer has produced a sufficient quantum of evidence to rebut the presumption that the employee's injury entitles her to compensation benefits.  Id. at 1054.  

Board decisions must be supported by “substantial evidence,” i.e., “such relevant evidence as a reasonable mind might accept as adequate to support a conclusion.”  Miller v. ITT Arctic Services, 577 P.2d 1044, 1049 (Alaska 1978).  The same standard is used in determining whether an employer has rebutted the §120 presumption. Id. at 1046. Where a physician had no opportunity to examine an employee “in any depth,” and where his conclusions were contrary to those of numerous treating physicians, his “knowledge of the case is so slight” as to make his report “worthless” and a “reasonable mind would not accept” his conclusions.  The judiciary may not reweigh evidence before the board.  Id. at 1049.  But it also will not abdicate its reviewing function and affirm a Board decision that has only “extremely slight” supporting evidence.  Black v. Universal Services, 627 P.2d 1073 (Alaska 1981).  A “clear and unambiguous” EME report would overcome the §120 presumption, but if it disagrees with opinions of numerous treating physicians a reasonable mind would not accept its conclusions and it would not form a substantial basis to ultimately deny a claim.  Id. at 1076.  The court has limited Black's holding by refusing to reverse a decision “where the reviewing physician's statement did not stand alone and was consistent with other evidence presented.”  Safeway, Inc. v. Mackey, 965 P.2d 22, 29 (Alaska 1998).
If the employer produces substantial evidence that the injury is not work-related, the presumption drops out, and the employee must prove all elements of her case by a preponderance of the evidence.  Koons, 816 P.2d at 1381, citing Miller, 577 P.2d at 1046.  The party with the burden of proving asserted facts by a preponderance of the evidence, must “induce a belief” in the mind of the board that the asserted facts are probably true.  Saxton v. Harris, 395 P.2d 71, 72 (Alaska 1964).

AS 23.30.122.  Credibility of witnesses. 
The board has the sole power to determine the credibility of a witness. A finding by the board concerning the weight to be accorded a witness's testimony, including medical testimony and reports, is conclusive even if the evidence is conflicting or susceptible to contrary conclusions. The findings of the board are subject to the same standard of review as a jury's finding in a civil action.

AS 23.30.180. Permanent total disability.
(a) In case of total disability adjudged to be permanent 80 percent of the injured employee's spendable weekly wages shall be paid to the employee during the continuance of the total disability. If a permanent partial disability award has been made before a permanent total disability determination, permanent total disability benefits must be reduced by the amount of the permanent partial disability award, adjusted for inflation, in a manner determined by the board. Loss of both hands, or both arms, or both feet, or both legs, or both eyes, or of any two of them, in the absence of conclusive proof to the contrary, constitutes permanent total disability. In all other cases permanent total disability is determined in accordance with the facts. In making this determination the market for the employee's services shall be

(1) area of residence; 

(2) area of last employment; 

(3) the state of residence; and 

(4) the State of Alaska. 

(b) Failure to achieve remunerative employability as defined in AS 23.30.041(r) does not, by itself, constitute permanent total disability.

”Total disability” does not necessarily mean a state of abject helplessness. It means the inability because of injuries to perform services other than those which are so limited in quality, dependability or quantity that a reasonably stable market for then does not exist. J.B. Warrnack v. Roan, 418 P.2d 986 (Alaska 1966). An employee is not permanently disabled unless a doctor states that the condition will not improve during the claimant's lifetime. Alaska International Constructors v. Kinter, 755 P.2d 1103 (Alaska 1988).  Further, an employee is not entitled to permanent total disability “if there is regularly and continuously available work in the area suited to the claimant's capabilities.” Summerville v. Denali Center, 811 P.2d 1047, 1051 (Alaska 1991).

8 AAC 45.112. Witness list.
A witness list must indicate whether the witness will testify in person, by deposition, or telephonically, the witness's address and phone number, and a brief description of the subject matter and substance of the witness's expected testimony. If a witness list is required under 8 AAC 45.065, the witness list must be filed with the board and served upon all parties at least five working days before the hearing. If a party directed at a prehearing to file a witness list fails to file a witness list as directed or files a witness list that is not in accordance with this section, the board will exclude the party's witnesses from testifying at the hearing, except that the board will admit and consider

(1) the testimony of a party, and 

(2) deposition testimony completed, though not necessarily transcribed, before the time for filing a witness list. 


8 AAC 45.120. Evidence.
(a) Witnesses at a hearing shall testify under oath or affirmation. The board will, in its discretion, examine witnesses and will allow all parties present an opportunity to do so. Except as provided in this subsection and 8 AAC 45.122, a party who wants to present a witness's testimony by deposition must file a transcript of the deposition with the board at least two working days before the hearing. If the board determines that a party is extremely indigent and cannot afford to pay the transcription fee, the board will rely upon the audio or visual recording of the deposition without a transcript. If a party fails to file a transcript of a witness's deposition at least two days before the hearing and if the board or its designee determines that neither unusual and extenuating circumstances exists nor is the party extremely indigent, the witness's deposition testimony will be excluded from the hearing, except for impeachment purposes, and will not be relied upon by the board in reaching its decision. If the board or its designee determines that unusual and extenuating circumstances exist, the board or its designee will determine whether to rely upon either the late-filed transcript or upon the audio or visual recording of the deposition without a transcript.

…

(c) Each party has the following rights at hearing:

(1) to call and examine witnesses; 

(2) to introduce exhibits; 

(3) to cross-examine opposing witnesses on any matter relevant to the issues even though the matter was not covered in the direct examination; 

(4) to impeach any witness regardless of which party first called the witness to testify; and 

(5) to rebut contrary evidence. 

…

(e) Technical rules relating to evidence and witnesses do not apply in board proceedings, except as provided in this chapter. Any relevant evidence is admissible if it is the sort of evidence on which responsible persons are accustomed to rely in the conduct of serious affairs, regardless of the existence of any common law or statutory rule which might make improper the admission of such evidence over objection in civil actions. Hearsay evidence may be used for the purpose of supplementing or explaining any direct evidence, but it is not sufficient in itself to support a finding of fact unless it would be admissible over objection in civil actions. The rules of privilege apply to the same extent as in civil actions. Irrelevant or unduly repetitious evidence may be excluded on those grounds.

(f) Any document, including a compensation report, controversion notice, claim, application for adjustment of claim, request for a conference, affidavit of readiness for hearing, petition, answer, or a prehearing summary, that is served upon the parties, accompanied by proof of service, and that is in the board's possession 20 or more days before hearing, will, in the board's discretion, be relied upon by the board in reaching a decision unless a written request for an opportunity to cross-examine the document's author is filed with the board and served upon all parties at least 10 days before the hearing. The right to request cross-examination specified in this subsection does not apply to medical reports filed in accordance with 8 AAC 45.052; a cross-examination request for the author of a medical report must be made in accordance with 8 AAC 45.052.

….

AS 23.30.395.  Definitions
In this chapter,

. . . 

(2) “arising out of and in the course of employment” includes employer-required or supplied travel to and from a remote job site; activities performed at the direction or under the control of the employer; and employer-sanctioned activities at employer-provided facilities; but excludes recreational league activities sponsored by the employer, unless participation is required as a condition of employment, and activities of a personal nature away from employer-provided facilities; 

 . . . 

24) “injury” means accidental injury or death arising out of and in the course of employment, and an occupational disease or infection that arises naturally out of the employment or that naturally or unavoidably results from an accidental injury; “injury” includes breakage or damage to eyeglasses, hearing aids, dentures, or any prosthetic devices that function as part of the body and further includes an injury caused by the wilful act of a third person directed against an employee because of the employment … .


ANALYSIS

1) Does the board have jurisdiction to adjudicate Employee’s non-workers’ compensation claims?

Employee has claimed several non-workers’ compensation issues for which she seeks benefits.  Specifically, she asserts she worked long hours of overtime without any compensation and she was fired for filing a complaint with Alaska OSHA regarding what she perceives were hazardous and unsafe conditions at her place of employment with Employer.   

The board’s jurisdiction is limited to benefits for injuries under the Alaska Workers’ Compensation Act (Act).   As the Alaska Supreme Court has said, the board is an administrative adjudicative agency and has only the authority to decide issues within the statutory scheme establishing the agency.   Issues such as overtime pay and allegations of wrongful termination are not within the ambit of the Act and the board does not have jurisdiction to decide the merits of Employee’s claims on those issues.   Employee has a remedy of bringing suit in superior court on these issues and Employee apparently availed herself of that remedy.

2) Is Employee’s claim barred by the statute of limitations in AS 23.30.100?

Employee did not file a Report of Injury for the 2003 work injury until August 26, 2008.  Employee’s last day of employment with Employer was October 3, 2003.  A report of injury must be filed within 30 days of the injury or Employee’s knowledge of the disability and its relationship to her work.  If the report is not filed within 30 days of the date of injury or knowledge the disability is related to employee’s work, the claim is barred.   However, the board may excuse an employee's late filing of a claim for benefits if the employee is able to offer a “satisfactory reason notice could not be given.”   

Here, Employee's reason for the late notice is she did not know and her Employer did not tell her she might have a workers’ compensation claim.  She contends no information regarding workers’ compensation benefits was posted at the job site and Employer had told her he did not offer health insurance.  She asserts she did not learn of her right to seek workers’ compensation benefits until sometime in 2008 during her superior court litigation involving her claim for wrongful termination.    As soon as she learned of her right to file for workers’ compensation benefits, Employee filed her Report of Injury.  

Employee’s reason is, however, undercut by Employer’s testimony his notice of workers’ compensation insurance was posted on the wall by the photocopier where Employee asserts she stood for long hours and the long hours resulted in back pain.   Moreover, Employer also testified he once instructed Employee about filing out workers’ compensation forms when another employee went to the Emergency Room following a fall which resulted in a serious cut.   

In this regard Employer is more credible than Employee.  

Nonetheless, if Employee did not know about workers’ compensation benefits and her need to file a report of injury, Employee’s late notice would be excusable since her Employer knew in 2003 Employee was asserting the building was making her sick.  She had long discussions with Employer about the building and its impact on her.   In fact, Employer required Employee to provide a doctor’s note the building was not making her sick before he would allow Employee to return to work.   Employer’s knowledge, therefore, excuses Employee’s late notice and Employee’s claim is not barred by AS 23.03.100.

However, excusing Employee’s late notice does not solve Employee's problem. Although the Board may excuse Employee's failure to give timely notice, the late notice means Employee does not enjoy the benefit of the presumption of compensability found in AS 23.30.120 which states it is presumed an injury occurred within the course and scope of employment.  Since Employee does not have the presumption of compensability, the normal presumption analysis is not applicable.   Employee bears the burden of proving by a preponderance of the evidence her ongoing complaints arose out of and in the course and scope of her employment.  

3) Does Employee suffer from toxic exposure at work leading to “sick building syndrome?”
Since Employee does not have the presumption her disability arose in the course and scope of her employment, she must prove her claim by a preponderance of the evidence.   

If the presumption analysis were applied to Employee’s claim, she has provided sufficient evidence, through her testimony, the testimony of her treating chiropractor Dr. Pizzadili, and the testimony of her husband, her place of employment is a substantial factor in her current disability and need for medical treatment.  All testified Employee suffers from “sick building syndrome” and the symptoms arose at the time of her employment with Employer.   If Employee had to establish a link between employment and her disability, she has done so.  

Employer then would be obligated to overcome the presumption with substantial evidence work is not a substantial factor.  Employer has submitted substantial evidence, which is evidence a reasonable mind would accept to support the proposition, Employee’s work with Employer is not the cause of her current disability.  Employer’s EME physicians – Drs. Burton, Bardana, and Goranson – all asserted without hesitation the building did not cause Employee’s complaints because there was no credible evidence the building had any problems which exposed Employee to toxic substances.  EME Dr. Laycoe, in 2006, opined Employee had no orthopedic injury as result of her work with Employer in 2003.   Since these physicians ruled out employment as a substantial factor, the presumption is rebutted by substantial evidence.  

Once the presumption is rebutted, or as here inapplicable, Employee must prove her claim by a preponderance of the evidence.  The preponderance of the credible evidence submitted in this case establishes work was not the cause of Employee’s current disability.   In 2003, Nortech, an independent agency, performed an inspection of the work site and monitored the air quality.  Nortech reported it found no evidence of any contaminants likely to impact indoor air quality and found the air quality to be fine.  Although Nortech made a couple of minor suggestions to improve the air quality, the bottom line was no indoor air quality problems.  

Furthermore, while Employee has consistently asserted other employees in the building were also made ill by the building, the deposition testimony of these employees was consistent their symptoms were all attributable to non-work problems and arose from other pre-existing conditions.  In addition, Employee reported to Dr. Galloway in November 2003, approximately six weeks after she ceased working for Employer, her symptoms had totally resolved.  Dr. Hemry found no evidence of allergic disease even before Employee stopped working.   Alaska OSHA found no reason to investigate the building in October 2003.    The testing of the water by Shaw Group in 2008 found no unsafe levels of lead, arsenic, mercury or nickel.    

Furthermore, the more credible medical testimony is that of the three EME doctors and the SIME doctor.  Both Dr. Burton and Dr. Martin are well-qualified toxicologists who reviewed all of Employee’s records, including her urine and blood samples, and her deposition.  They came to the same conclusion – there is no evidence the building produced any contaminants that would be toxic to Employee. Moreover, each doctor pointed out Employee improved by November 2003 so if the building were making her sick, her removal from the building cured the problem.  Her symptoms did not actually worsen until more than two years later.  

 Employee’s expert Dr. Heuser and her current treating physician Dr. Pizzadili testified the building did make Employee sick but their opinions relied substantially on Employee’s own statements and, therefore, are given less credibility.  Both doctors tied Employee’s current problems to her work in 2003, but they relied heavily on Employee’s statements the building made other employees ill as it had made her.  However, as noted above, the deposition testimony of three other employees who filled out Employee’s questionnaire, directly contradicts Employee’s assertions.  All three expressly stated the reason for each symptom checked on the questionnaire was not the building but some other pre-existing and non-work related condition.  They also ignored the objective evidence the building did not contain toxic substances.  This evidence directly undercuts the testimony of these doctors.  Moreover, the laboratories testing Employee’s urine and blood samples do not appear to be as reputable as the laboratories providing other evidence.  Furthermore, the lead findings related by Dr. Heuser were from samples taken several years after Employee had been in the building and her own water and personal environment were not tested.   

The preponderance of the evidence, including the more credible medical opinions, establishes the work environment was not toxic and is not the source of Employee’s current disability. 

4) Is Employee permanently and totally disabled as a result of her work for Employer?

As noted above, Employee’s late notice of her work injury deprives her of the presumption she is permanently and totally disabled as a result of her work for Employer.  Moreover, as noted above the preponderance of the evidence establishes Employee did not sustain an injury on the job.  

However, if Employee did sustain a job injury in 2003, the preponderance of the evidence, including Employee’s own statements, is that she was able to work in 2003. Any work injury was at most temporary in character since her symptoms resolved by November 2003, and her depression resolved by July 2006 when she told her treating doctors she was no longer depressed.  

More importantly, Employee continued to search for work through March 2006.  She worked as a secretary for Employer and work was available.  According to Employee the only reason she could not find work as a secretary was because Employer would not give her a reference.  The lack of a reference by her Employer does not make Employee permanently and totally disabled as a result of a work injury.  To be permanently and totally disabled under the Act means “the inability because of injuries to perform services” other than those so limited a labor market does not exist.  The lack of a job reference does not equate to being physically unable to work.   For all these reasons, Employee is unable to show by a preponderance of the evidence she is permanently and totally disabled as a result of her work with Employer.    

CONCLUSIONS OF LAW

1) The board does not have jurisdiction to decide the non-workers’ compensation aspects of Employee’s claim. 

2) Employee did not sustain a work injury in the course and scope of her employment with Employer.

3) Employee is not entitled to permanent total disability benefits and medical benefits as a result of her employment with Employer.


ORDER
Employee’s workers’ compensation claim is denied and dismissed. 

Dated at Anchorage, Alaska on April 21, 2011.
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APPEAL PROCEDURES

This compensation order is a final decision.  It becomes effective when filed in the office of the Board unless proceedings to appeal it are instituted.  Effective November 7, 2005 proceedings to appeal must be instituted in the Alaska Workers’ Compensation Appeals Commission within 30 days of the filing of this decision and be brought by a party in interest against the Board and all other parties to the proceedings before the Board. If a request for reconsideration of this final decision is timely filed with the Board, any proceedings to appeal must be instituted within 30 days after the reconsideration decision is mailed to the parties or within 30 days after the date the reconsideration request is considered denied due to the absence of any action on the reconsideration request, whichever is earlier. AS 23.30.127

An appeal may be initiated by filing with the office of the Appeals Commission: (1) a signed notice of appeal specifying the board order appealed from and 2) a statement of the grounds upon which the appeal is taken.  A cross-appeal may be initiated by filing with the office of the Appeals Commission a signed notice of cross-appeal within 30 days after the board decision is filed or within 15 days after service of a notice of appeal, whichever is later.  The notice of cross-appeal shall specify the board order appealed from and the grounds upon which the cross-appeal is taken.  AS 23.30.128

RECONSIDERATION

A party may ask the Board to reconsider this decision by filing a petition for reconsideration under AS 44.62.540 and in accordance with 8 AAC 45.050.  The petition requesting reconsideration must be filed with the Board within 15 days after delivery or mailing of this decision.

MODIFICATION

Within one year after the rejection of a claim, or within one year after the last payment of benefits under AS 23.30.180, 23.30.185, 23.30.190, 23.30.200, or 23.30.215, a party may ask the Board to modify this decision under AS 23.30.130 by filing a petition in accordance with 8 AAC 45.150 and 8 AAC 45.050.

CERTIFICATION

I hereby certify that the foregoing is a full, true and correct copy of the Decision and Order in the matter of MARILYN A. COPPE employee / applicant; v. MICHAEL A BLEICHER, M.D. & LAURIE BLEICHER, M.D., employers; LIBERTY NORTHWEST INSURANCE COMPANY, insurer/ defendants;  Case No. 200324759; dated and filed in the office of the Alaska Workers' Compensation Board in Anchorage, Alaska, on April 21, 2011.


 



Jean Sullivan, Clerk
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� U.S. Department of Labor, Occupational Safety & Health Administration.


� State of Alaska, Occupational Safety & Health Labor Standards & Safety Division,


� See, Coppe v. Bleicher, Memorandum Opinion and Judgment, No. 1377 (March 9, 2011).


� Indoor Air Quality.


� Heating, ventilating and air conditioning.


� Dimercapto succinic acid.


� Chelation therapy.


� Administration of man-made amino acid called EDTA (ethylenediamine tetraacetic acid)  into the veins, used in cases of heavy metal poisoning to bind lead and mercury creating a compound excreted in urine. Not recommended because claimed benefits have not been scientifically proven.    American Heart Association internet site.


� Coppe v. Bleicher, supra.
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